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DAVID E. MASTAGNI, ESQ. (SBN 204244)
ISAAC S. STEVENS, ESQ. (SBN 251245)
ACE T. TATE, ESQ. (SBN 262015)
MASTAGNI HOLSTEDT
A Professional Corporation
1912 “I” Street
Sacramento, California 95811
Telephone: (916) 446-4692
Facsimile: (916) 447-4614

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

TIMOTHY ABOUDARA, JR.;
JONATHAN AARSHEIM; JON ABERS; 
AJ ALCOCER; MICHAEL ALCOCER;
VANCE ALKIRE; ALBERT ARMANINI;
CODY BAGLEY; ROBERT BANKS;
JENNIFER BARTHOLOMEW; BEN
BASQUE; TRAVIS BERG; DEAN
BOURDAGE; SCOTT BRISTOW;
RACHELLE BROOKE; JUDAS ZANE
BROWN; JEFF BROWN; BRIAN
BUCHANAN; KYLE BUNCH; SCOTT
BYRN; ANTHONY CAMILLERI; JASON
CLINKENBEARD; JASON CLOUGH;
TRAVERS COLLINS; CAMERON
CORNELSSEN; MATTHEW COX;
MATTHEW DACUNHA; DOUG
DAHME; STEPHEN DALPORTO;
FRANK DAMANTE; WESLEY DAVID; 
THEODORE DAY; DEAN GUNNAR;
MATTHEW DEVINE; EARL DUNCKEL; 
JAMES ECKHOFF; MIA EMERSON;
JAMES FEIGE; KEVIN FLEMMING;
JOSHUA GAGNEBIN; THOMAS
GALLAGHER; ROBERT GILES;
TIMOTHY GLASS; MATTHEW
GLOECKNER; CHAD GOFF; JAIMIE
HARCOS; IAN HARDAGE; MICHAEL
HARRISON; IAN HODGES; SAMUEL
HOEL; SAGE HOWELL; JOSEPH
HUGHES; ANDREW IHLENFELDT; 
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JOE IMBODEN; MARK JACKSON
KEITH JEFFUS; JASON JENKINS;
MICHAEL JOHNSON; STAVROS
KALOGIROU; ROY KEEGAN; JEFFREY
KELLY; RICK KERRIGAN; DAVID
KIM; 
MARC LAGOURGUE; KEENAN LEE;
MICHAEL LELLIS; CRAIG LOCKETT;
GUERRERO LOPEZ; PAUL
LOWENTHAL; CHRIS MATTHIES;
GREGORY MCCOLLUM; MICHAEL
MCGAHAN;
GIULIETTA MILLER; JOHNNY MIU; 
STEVE MONTOYA; STEPHEN
MORIKAWA; MICHAEL MUSGROVE;
MICHAEL NEALON; TONY NIEL;
BRANDON PALMER; ROBERT
PANACCI; DAMON PEARSON; DREW
PETERSEN; LARRY PETERSEN;
MARITA PETERSEN; JEFF PETERSON;
TIMOTHY POLACEK; BRYON REID;
TOBY REY; DONALD RICCI; PAUL
RICCI; CHASE RICHARDSON;
CORINNE RICKERT; JAMES RITCHIE;
KEMPLEN ROBBINS; CHRISTOPHER
ROBERTS; DARYL SAGER;
ALEJANDRO SERRANO; MICHAEL
SIEGEL; ALAN SIMPSON; JASON
SINCLAIR; CHRIS SKYE; STEPHEN
SMOKER; RAYMOND SPRADLIN;
BRIAN STABY; ROBERT STRATTON;
STEVE SUTER; VINCENT TA; JESSIE
TAINTOR; MELVIN TAUA; 
JACK THOMAS; NATHAN VAGT;
ANDREW VALLELY; MICHAEL
WEISS; ANTHONY WESTERGAARD;
BRIAN WHITE; PETER WOOD;
KONSTANTIN ZHEREBNENKOV, 
on behalf of themselves and all similarly
situated individuals,

Plaintiffs,
v.

CITY OF SANTA ROSA,

Defendant.
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 I.

INTRODUCTION

1. This action is brought pursuant to the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) 29

U.S.C. sections 201, et seq., to recover from Defendant CITY OF SANTA ROSA (hereinafter

“Defendant”) unpaid overtime and other compensation, interest thereon, liquidated damages,

costs of suit and reasonable attorney fees. 

2. This action arises from Defendant’s failure to include all statutorily required forms of

compensation in the “regular rate” used to calculate Plaintiffs’ overtime compensation. 

II.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiffs are employed as firefighters by the City of Santa Rosa.  Plaintiffs bring this action on

behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated individuals. Defendant deprived Plaintiffs

and similarly situated individuals of their full statutorily required compensation for hours

worked. 

4. Defendant implemented an illegal compensation computation method, which undercounts

Plaintiffs’ “regular rate” of pay.   Defendant’s method of calculating Plaintiffs’ and other

similarly situated individuals’ “regular rate” of pay results, and has resulted in under-payment

for overtime hours worked.  Defendant suffered or permitted Plaintiffs and similarly situated

individuals to perform overtime work without proper compensation.

5. Defendant is a political subdivision of the State of California and employed the Plaintiffs.

6. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated individuals. 

Those individuals constitute a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and

fact at issue in this case.  The claims of the represented Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of

those similarly situated. 

7. The named Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately reflect and represent the interests of those

similarly situated.  There is no conflict as to the individually named Plaintiffs and other
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members of the class with respect to this action or with respect to the claims for relief herein

set forth. 

III.

JURISDICTION

8. This action is brought pursuant to the provisions of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. sections 201, et seq.,

to recover from Defendant unpaid overtime compensation, interest thereon, liquidated damages,

costs of suit and reasonable attorney fees.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. section 1331 and 29 U.S.C. section 216(b), because this action is based on the

FLSA.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction of this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. sections

207, et seq. 

IV.

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

9. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated current and former

employees of the City of Santa Rosa who worked overtime and received holiday in lieu or sick

leave incentive program payments at any time from June 30, 2013 to the present.  For example,

members of Bargaining Unit 5, comprised primarily of police officers, also receive holiday pay

in lieu that was not included in the “regular rate” used to calculate their overtime compensation. 

Those individuals are similarly situated and constitute a well-defined community of interest in

their respective questions of law and fact relevant to this action.  The claims of the Plaintiffs are

typical of those of other individuals similarly situated.  The Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately

represent the interests of those similarly situated. 

10. On or about November 30, 2016, Plaintiff TIMOTHY ABOUDARA, JR., in his capacity as

President for the International Association of Firefighters, Local 1401 (“Local 1401”), and

Defendant’s City Manager entered into a written agreement tolling the statute of limitations for

Plaintiffs’ FLSA claims.

11. This action is brought by Plaintiffs as a collective action, on his own behalf and on behalf of all

others similarly situated, under the provisions of 29 U.S.C. section 216, for damages, liquidated
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damages, a three-year statute of limitations, and relief incident and subordinate thereto,

including costs and attorney fees. 

12. The exact number of members similarly situated in the collective group, as herein above

identified and described, is estimated to consist of over one hundred individuals. 

13. There are common questions of law and fact in this action relating to and affecting the rights

of each member of the collective group, including whether Defendant failed to fully compensate

Plaintiffs and other similarly situated individuals for all overtime worked by excluding

compensation in lieu of holidays and sick leave attendance incentives from the “regular rate”

of pay used to calculate overtime compensation.  The relief sought is common to the entire

class. 

14. Plaintiffs’ claims and the claims of those similarly situated depend on a showing of Defendant’s

acts and omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ right to the relief sought herein.  There is no conflict

as to the named Plaintiffs and other members of the collective group seeking to opt in, with

respect to this action, or with respect to the claims for relief herein set forth.  

15. This action is properly maintained as a collective action in that the prosecution of separate

actions by individual members of the collective group would create a risk of adjudications with

respect to individual members of the class which may as a practical matter be dispositive of the

interests of the other members not parties to the adjudications, or may substantially impair or

impede their ability to protect their interests. 

16. Plaintiffs’ lawyers are experienced and capable in the field of FLSA and labor/employment

litigation and have successfully represented thousands of claimants in other litigation of this

nature. 

17. Plaintiffs’ counsel, Mastagni Holstedt, APC, will conduct and be responsible for Plaintiffs’ case

herein.  David E. Mastagni and Isaac S. Stevens, who will be primarily responsible for litigating

this matter, have represented thousands of employees pursuing wage and hour claims

throughout the State of California, and have recovered millions of dollars on their behalf. 
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18. This action is appropriate for conditional certification as a collective action because Defendant

subjected Plaintiffs and the other members of the class to the same practice of excluding certain

remunerations from the regular rate of pay in violation of 29 U.S.C. section 207.

19. This factual nexus is sufficient to justify the Court to exercise its discretion to ensure that

accurate and timely notice is given to all similarly situated former and current employees of

Defendant so that they may make an informed decision about whether to join this action. 

V.

FACTUAL ASSERTIONS

20. Plaintiffs are or were employed as firefighters for the City of Santa Rosa.  

21. At all times relevant hereto, Plaintiffs’ terms and conditions of employment, including their

compensation, was governed by a collective bargaining agreement between the City of Santa

Rosa and Local 1401.

22. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant suffered or permitted Plaintiffs and other similarly

situated individuals to work hours beyond statutory thresholds for overtime compensation

required by the FLSA.

23. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant impermissibly excluded certain remunerations or

undervalued the regular rate of pay, upon which all forms of Plaintiffs’ overtime compensation

are based. 

24. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. section 207(e), the “regular rate” must include all remuneration received

by an employee unless it is explicitly excluded.  The burden is on an employer to demonstrate

that a payment is excludable from the regular rate.  (Madison v. Resources for Human

Development (3rd. Cir. 2000) 233 F.3d 175, 187.)

25. Defendant’s past and current practice of computing Plaintiffs’ overtime has impermissibly

reduced the amount being paid to Plaintiffs by failing to compute all statutorily required

amounts into Plaintiffs’ “regular rate” of pay as defined by 29 U.S.C. section 207(e).  

26. Defendant provides Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals a lump sum payment equal

to168 hours of pay in lieu of taking holidays each year. Defendant provides this compensation

in a lump sum payment each December, and treats it as taxable wages. 
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27. Defendant excluded Plaintiffs’ holiday in lieu pay from the “regular rate” used to calculate their

overtime. On information and belief, Defendant excluded holiday in lieu pay from the “regular

rate” used to calculate overtime for all similarly situated individuals. 

28. Pursuant to Defendant’s collective bargaining agreement with Bargaining Unit 5, Defendant

provides police employees a similar holiday in lieu payment that is not included in their “regular

rate” used to calculate their overtime compensation.

29. Defendant also provides Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals pay equivalent to a shift’s

worth of work for using less than fifty-six hours of sick leave each year. Defendant treats

payments for this sick leave incentive as taxable wages. 

30. Defendant excluded sick leave incentive pay from the “regular rate” used to calculate Plaintiffs’

overtime compensation during the relevant time period. On information and belief, Defendant

excluded sick leave incentive pay from the “regular rate” used to calculate similarly situated

individuals’ overtime compensation. 

31. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. section 207(e), Defendant is statutorily required to include all forms of

remuneration in Plaintiffs’ “regular rate” of pay.

32. 29 U.S.C. section 207(e)(2), which allows employers to exclude from the “regular rate”

payments for periods where no work is performed, reasonable payments for traveling expenses

or other expenses incurred by employees, and other similar payments which are not made as

compensation for employees’ work does not allow Defendant to exclude monetary

compensation paid to Plaintiffs in lieu of holidays and sick leave incentives.

38. By excluding these holiday in-lieu and sick leave incentive payments from the “regular rate”

used to calculate overtime compensation paid to Plaintiffs and other similarly situated

individuals, Defendant failed to pay them one and one-half times their “regular rate” of pay for

all hours of overtime they worked. 

39. Likewise, by failing to include all remuneration in employees’ “regular rate” of pay, Defendant

failed to compensate Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals for cashing out compensatory

time off (“CTO”). 
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40. Defendant has a policy of cashing out Plaintiffs’ unused CTO at less than the rate required by

29 U.S.C. section 207(o)(3) and (4).

41. 29 U.S.C. section 207(o)(3)(B) requires that, if “compensation is paid to an employee for

accrued compensatory time off, such compensation shall be paid at the regular rate earned by

the employee at the time the employee receives such payment.” 

42. 29 U.S.C. section 207(o)(4) requires that, upon termination of employment, employees  must

be paid for their unused CTO at a rate of compensation not less than the greater of “(A) the

average regular rate received by such employee during the last 3 years of the employee’s

employment, or (B) the final regular rate received by such employee.” 

43. Defendant has implemented and maintained an agency-wide practice of excluding certain

remunerations, including holiday in lieu and sick leave incentive payments, in the “regular rate”

of pay used to pay out CTO accruals. 

44. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant and its agents and representatives were aware of their

obligations to properly compute and use the correct “regular rate” of pay in calculating overtime

compensation owed to Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals. 

45. Plaintiffs are informed and believes and thereon allege Defendant and its agents and/or

representatives willfully and knowingly violated the FLSA by continuing to exclude

remunerations from the calculation of Plaintiffs’ and similarly situated individuals’ “regular

rate” of pay. 

46. Defendant’s continuing failure to properly compensate Plaintiffs and similarly situated

individuals was not in good faith and is a willful violation of the FLSA as it applies to

employees of local governments. Defendant has continued its unlawful practices even after

Plaintiffs have raised their claims for backpay.

47. As a result of the foregoing violations of the FLSA alleged herein, Plaintiffs seek damages for

lost overtime compensation and undervalued cash outs of CTO, as well as liquidated damages.

Plaintiffs seek these damages for the entire period of time Defendant has engaged in said

unlawful and willful conduct, up to three years as prescribed by the FLSA. 

48. Plaintiffs also seek reasonable attorney fees and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. section 216(b). 
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FIRST COUNT

(Fair Labor Standards Act - Failure to Pay All Overtime Compensation Earned)

49. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every paragraph above inclusive as though set forth

fully herein.

50. Defendant suffered or permitted Plaintiffs, and on information and belief other similarly situated

individuals, to work overtime but failed to include all required forms of compensation into the

“regular rate” of pay used to calculate their overtime compensation, as well as amount of cash

paid to Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals who cashed out CTO.

51. By failing to include all requisite forms of compensation in the “regular rate” of pay used to

calculate overtime compensation and CTO cash outs, Defendant failed to compensate Plaintiffs

and similarly situated individuals at one and one-half times the “regular rate” of pay for all

overtime hours as required by the FLSA.  

52. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant and its agents and representatives were aware of their

obligations to pay Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals for all hours worked at one and

half times the “regular rate” of pay as required by the FLSA.

53. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant and its agents and representatives knew or should have

known of their obligations to pay Plaintiffs and similarly situated individuals overtime

compensation at one and one-half of their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of

the applicable maximum weekly hours established by section 207 of the FLSA. 

54. At all times relevant hereto Defendant’s failure to fully compensate Plaintiffs for all hours

worked was not in good faith, and was a willful violation of the FLSA. 

55. As a result of the foregoing violations of the FLSA as herein enumerated, Plaintiffs seek

damages for three (3) years’ back pay of overtime compensation that was earned but unpaid, as

well as an equal amount in liquidated damages.

56. Plaintiffs also seek reasonable attorney fees and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. section 216(b).

///

///

///
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PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment as follows:

1. For recovery of unpaid overtime compensation and interest thereon plus an equal

amount of liquidated damages for all Plaintiffs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. section 216(b);

2. For a determination that Defendant’s conduct was reckless and/or an intentional,

knowing, and willful violation of the FLSA, and therefore Plaintiffs are entitled to

recover damages under a three (3) year statute of limitations; 

3. For reasonable attorney fees pursuant to 29 U.S.C. section 216(b);

4. For costs incurred as a result of this proceeding; 

5. For injunctive relief ordering the Defendant to cease and desist from engaging in said

unlawful conduct, including but not limited to, excluding holiday in lieu and sick leave

incentive payments from employees’ regular rate of pay;   

6. For conditional certification of the class as plead;

7. For an order to timely notify all potential class members of this action; and,

8. For such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.

Dated: March 27, 2017 MASTAGNI HOLSTEDT, APC  

By: /s/ David E. Mastagni                            
DAVID E. MASTAGNI
ISAAC S. STEVENS
ACE T. TATE
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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